AN ANALYSIS OF THE ACCURACY OF WEARABLE SENSORS FOR DISTINGUISHING THE CAUSE OF FALLS

by

Omar Aziz Bachelor in Mechatronics Engineering, National University of Sciences and Technology, 2005

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF APPLIED SCIENCE

In the School of Engineering Science

© Omar Aziz 2009 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Fall 2009

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

APPROVAL

Name:

Degree:

Title of Thesis:

Omar Aziz Master of Applied Science An analysis of the accuracy of wearable sensors for distinguishing the cause of falls

Examining Committee:

Chair:

Dr. Behraad Bahreyni Assistant Professor – School of Engineering Science

Dr. Stephen Robinovitch Senior Supervisor Associate Professor – School of Engineering Science

Shahram Payandeh Supervisor Professor – School of Engineering Science

Edward Park Examiner Associate Professor – School of Engineering Science

Date Defended/Approved:

December 09, 2009

FU SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Declaration of Partial Copyright Licence

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection (currently available to the public at the "Institutional Repository" link of the SFU Library website <www.lib.sfu.ca> at: <http://ir.lib.sfu.ca/handle/1892/112>) and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

While licensing SFU to permit the above uses, the author retains copyright in the thesis, project or extended essays, including the right to change the work for subsequent purposes, including editing and publishing the work in whole or in part, and licensing other parties, as the author may desire.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, BC, Canada

ABSTRACT

Falls are the number one cause of injury in older adults. Wearable sensor ' arrays (e.g. accelerometers) represent a promising technique for determining the cause and circumstances of falls in high-risk individuals. Previous studies have shown that the occurrence of a fall can be sensed reliably from the high acceleration generated at impact. This thesis extends this research, by developing and evaluating a sensor array system for determining the cause of a fall. Sixteen young adults participated in trials involving falls due to slips, trips, and "other" causes. 3D acceleration data acquired during the falling trials were input to a linear discriminant analysis (LDA) technique. This routine achieved 96% sensitivity in detecting the cause of a fall using acceleration data from three markers (left foot, right foot and sternum). These results indicate the utility of a three node accelerometer array for distinguishing the cause of falls.

Keywords: Accelerometers; Falls; Injury; Linear Discriminant Analysis.

To my grandparents

ì

•

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a pleasure to thank the many people who made this thesis possible.

Many people have been a part of my graduate education, as friends, teachers and colleagues. My supervisor, Dr. Stephen Robinovich, first and foremost has been all of these. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to him for his motivation, enthusiasm and immense knowledge. His detailed and constructive comments encouraged me to do my very best; his wide knowledge and logical way of thinking have been of great value to me. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Master study.

My parents, Rehana Aziz and Aziz-ur-Rehman, have been a great source of support to me, emotional, moral and of course financial. And this thesis would certainly have not existed without their prayers, good wishes and absolute confidence in me.

I am also truly and deeply indebted to my sister, Maryam, for helping me get through the difficult times. She has been a constant source of inspiration and encouragement to me every step of the way; she kept me focused and motivated. Thank you doesn't seem sufficient, but it is said with appreciation and respect.

The informal support and the encouragement of many friends has been indispensible and I would like particularly to acknowledge the contribution of Jimmy Jtsai, Joseph Choi, Timothy Chueh, Thiago Sarraf, Yijian Yang, Fabio Feldman, Mona Jalili and Chantelle Murnaghan for the stimulating discussions and all the fun we have had in the last 3 years.

My wife Sana, thank you from the bottom of my heart for your love and support throughout the past three years. Despite the fact, my name alone is listed on the title page, this thesis would not have been possible without you. Thank you so much for your support and for being there through everything with me.

Finally, my greatest regards to the Almighty for bestowing upon me the courage to face the complexities of life and to complete this project successfully.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appr Abstr Dedia Ackn Table List c	oval ract cation owledgements e of Contents of Figures	. ii . iv . v . vi /iii ix
1: Cl	hapter 1 BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES	. 1
1.1	Falls in the elderly	. 1
	1.1.1 Fall-related injuries	. 1
	1.1.2 Hip fracture	. 2
1.2	Cause and circumstances of falls in older adults	. 3
	1.2.1 Inaccuracy of self reported fall characteristics	.4
1.2	1.2.2 Fall mechanics	.5
1.3	1.2.1 Surveillance experses	. כ
	1.3.2 Wearable sensors for detecting falls	. ວ 6
1.4	Goals and objective	.9
1.5	Tables	12
2: Cl	hapter 2 AN ANALYSIS OF THE ACCURACY OF WEARABLE SENSORS	
FOR	DETECTING FALLS CAUSED BY SLIPS AND TRIPS	14
2.1	Introduction	14
2.2	Material and methods	16
	2.2.1 Participants	16
	2.2.2 Experimental Protocol	16
• •	2.2.3 Data collection	18
2.3	Data Analysis	10 22
2.4	Discussion	22 27
2.5	Figures	28
2.7	Tables	36
2. 01		
5. UI	S CAUSED BY DIFFERENT WEIGHT SHIFTING ACTIVITIES	45
3.1		45
3.2	Material and methods	47
	3.2.1 Participants	47

	3.2.2 Experiment Protocol	48					
	3.2.3 Data collection	49					
3.3	Data Analysis	50					
3.4	Results						
3.5	Discussion	55					
3.6	Figures	60					
3.7	Tables	64					
4: Cl	4: Chapter 4 Thesis summary and conclusion						
4.1	Future directions	74					
Refe	Reference List						

.

LIST OF FIGURES

_

Figure 2-1: Flow chart representing experiment protocol. The extended branches show the various types of falls that subjects were instructed to imitate. Sixteen subjects (12 males and 4 females) performed each trial three times, resulting in 96 falls due to slips, 96 due to trips and 288 due to "other causes"
Figure 2-2: Simulation of falls due to slips and trips in laboratory. The figues show comparison between real-life falls captured on surveillance cameras in long term care (LTC) facility and fall simulated through young adults in laboratory. (A) Comparison between a simulated slip and real-life slip. (B) Comparison between a simulated trip and real-life trip
Figure 2-3: Sample 3-dimensional acceleration traces from a typical participant in slip, trip and faint/collapse falling trial. Along the x-axis 1.5 seconds time reflects an approximate instance for pelvis impact
Figure 2-4: (A) Confusion matrix, representing results from the best marker combination. (B) Defining true positive (TP), true negative (TN), false positive (FP) and false negative (FN) for three types of falls
Figure 2-5: Graphical representation of various measures of performance in terms of true positive, true negative, false positive and false negative
Figure 2-6: Sensitivity comparison for sensor combinations
Figure 3-1: Simulation of falls due to fainting, incorrect transfer while sitting (IT- sitting), incorrect transfer while rising (IT-rising), reaching and turning61
Figure 3-2: Sample 3-dimensional acceleration traces from a typical participant in falls due to fainting, IT-sitting, IT-rising, reaching and turning. On the time scale, 1.5 seconds represents and approximate instant of pelvis impact

.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1: An overview of fall detection research studies	12
Table 2-1: Confusion matrix, Head marker	36
Table 2-2: Confusion matrix, Sternum marker	36
Table 2-3: Confusion matrix, Waist marker	37
Table 2-4: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot	37
Table 2-5: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum	38
Table 2-6: Confusion matrix, Head + Waist	38
Table 2-7: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Head	39
Table 2-8: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist	39
Table 2-9: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum	40
Table 2-10: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Head	40
Table 2-11: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Waist + Head	41
Table 2-12: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Waist	41
Table 2-13: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Head	42
Table 2-14: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Head	42
Table 2-15: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Sternum + Head	43
Table 2-16: Sensitivity, specificity, precision and accuracy of marker array in detecting the cause of falls	44
Table 3-1: Confusion matrix, Head marker	64
Table 3-2: Confusion matrix, Sternum marker	65
Table 3-3: Confusion matrix, Waist marker	65
Table 3-4: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot	66
Table 3-5: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum	66
Table 3-6: Confusion matrix, Head + Waist	67
Table 3-7: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Head	67
Table 3-8: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist	68
Table 3-9: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Sternum	68
Table 3-10: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Head	69
Table 3-11: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum + Head	69

Table 3-12: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + waist + Sternum	70
Table 3-13: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Head	70
Table 3-14: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Sternum + Head	71
Table 3-15: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Sternum + Head	71
Table 3-16: Sensitivity and specificity of marker array in detecting the cause of falls.	72
	1

.

1: CHAPTER 1 BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

1.1 Falls in the elderly

Falls are the number one cause of injury in older adults. Approximately 35% of all adults over the age of 65 (Blake et al,. 1988; Prudham and Evans, 1981; Cambell et al., 1981) and up to 50% of older adults in long-term care institutions fall each year (Tinetti et al., 1987). Approximately 15-20% of falls result in a serious injury (Alexander et al., 1990). As discussed in the next section, hip fractures are the most common serious injury related to falls. However, head, wrist, shoulder and spine injuries are also a frequent serious consequence of falls among older adults. Furthermore, even when no injury occurs, falls can have deleterious physiological effects on the individual including "fear of falling", which can result not only in restricted activity but increased dependency on others and decreased social interaction (Howland et al., 1998; Howland et al., 1993).

1.1.1 Fall-related injuries

For Canadian seniors, falls are the most frequent cause of injury-related hospitalization, and account for 78 percent of injury-related deaths (Raina et al.,

1997). This is a growing problem, as the number of falls and fall-related injuries will increase as the proportion of those aged 80 years and over in Canada is expected to double over the next 20 years (Statistics Canada, 1997).

Fall related injuries bring not only suffering to patients, but also represent a huge cost to society. In Canada, there were over 2 million injuries in 1995, accounting for more than \$4.2 billion in direct health care cost. The most costly injuries were falls, totalling approximately \$2.4 billion or 57% of total direct cost (Papadimitropoulos et al., 1997). Furthermore, over \$980 million of the 2.4 billion in direct costs spent on falls was devoted to treating falls among the elderly. It is estimated that about 40% of falls leading to hospitalization are the result of hip fracture, and that the number of hip fractures in Canada will increase dramatically from 23,375 in 1993 to over 88,000 cases by the year 2041 as the Canadian population ages (The Hygeia Group, 1998).

1.1.2 Hip fracture

Of all injuries from falls, hip fractures cause the greatest health problems and the greatest number of deaths. About 27,000 hip fractures occur each year in Canada (Papadimitropoulos et al., 1997). Half of all older adults hospitalized for hip fracture cannot return home or live independently after the fracture (Scott, 1990). People older than 85 years are 10 to 15 times more likely to experience a hip fracture than are people aged 60 to 65 years. Also, the risk of sustaining a hip

fractures is 10.5 times higher for women residing in long – term care (LTC) facilities than if they were living in the community, and less than 15 percent of LTC residents who sustain a hip fracture regain pre-injury ambulation status (Folman et al., 1994).

1.2 Cause and circumstances of falls in older adults

Given the high incidence and cost of fall injuries in older adults, it is important to understand and target the mechanisms that cause these events. Falls are complex events that can be defined as a sudden, unintentional change in position causing an individual to land at a lower level onto the ground or onto an object (Wolf et al., 1996). In biomechanical terms, most falls can be defined as loss of stable upright posture due to body movements (and lack of appropriate corrective actions) which displace the body's centre of gravity beyond its base of support. Falls occur relatively commonly among persons of all ages (Talbot et al., 2005). However, most falls in young and middle-aged adults occur during sports or vigorous activities while falls in older adults often occur while performing daily activities such as walking, turning, reaching and transferring (Talbot et al., 2005). Slips and trips, along with "loss-of-balance", "leg gave away" or "don't know" are common self-reported causes for falls (Blake et al., 1988; Brocklehurst et al., 1978; Cumming and Klineberg 1994). Also, studies show that many fall events in older adults occur from the interaction between identifiable environmental hazards and increased susceptibility to hazards from the accumulated effects of age and disease. Postural control, body orientation reflexes, muscle strength and

tone, and height of stepping all decline with aging, and impair the older individual's ability to avoid a fall after an unexpected event of loss of balance. Age-associated impairments of vision, hearing and memory loss also are responsible for an increase in the number of falls due to slips, trips and stumbles. In older adults, other specific causes of falls include disorder of the central nervous system, cognitive deficits, poor vision, drug side-effects, alcohol intake, anaemia, hypothyroidism, unstable joints, foot problems and acute illnesses. However, there are few objective measures of real-life falls in older adults, from which to directly assess the cause and circumstances of these events, and how they are affected by physiological and environmental variables.

1.2.1 Inaccuracy of self reported fall characteristics

Falls among older adults often go un-witnessed. Reports on falls in such circumstances are generated by directly asking questions to the older adult (Cumming et al., 1990), thus relying on the ability of the individual to remember and recall the fall event. Self-reporting and retrospective surveys are likely to misreport fall events due to inaccuracies in responses led by forgetting or denying falls, especially those not resulting in injury (Cummings et al., 1988). Such techniques may provide inaccurate estimates of the true incidence of falling (Peel. 2000). Furthermore, recent laboratory falling studies indicate that even young healthy adults have difficulty in accurately recalling the mechanics of falls, when interviewed immediately after the event (Feldman, 2009). In order to determine the true cause of falls among older adults, and develop and evaluate

prevention strategies, improved techniques are required to measure and analyse movement strategies during real-life falls.

1.2.2 Fall mechanics

The way in which a person falls, or the "mechanics" of the fall, are known to influence the type of injury sustained. For example, slips are initiated just after heel strike, and involve forward sliding of the foot along the ground, resulting typically in backward fall. Indeed most falls due to slips result in a backward fall and backward falls onto the buttocks have much lower rates of fractures (Rubenstein, 2006). On the other hand, trips are caused by obstruction of forward movement of the foot during walking, usually due to the contact with an obstacle, and subsequent anterior rotation of the torso leading to a forward fall. Wrist fractures usually result from forward or backward falls onto an outstretched hand, while, hip fractures typically result from falls to the side.

1.3 Systems for monitoring mobility and detecting falls in older adults

1.3.1 Surveillance cameras

Recent work by Robinovitch et al., (2009) studies the types and circumstances of falls in older adults living in long term care facilities. In this study, fall videos captured through surveillance cameras were studied and analysed by a panel of experts. While providing valuable data, a drawback of this

approach is the fixed number and locations of surveillance cameras and associated risk of falls going unrecorded. As an interesting side note, these investigators compared videos to incident reports filled by care attendants who witnessed the fall or asked the faller a set of questions regarding the fall. These incident reports were found to differ considerably from the video recording in describing the cause of the fall. This suggested inaccuracy may limit the effectiveness of fall prevention strategies based solely on incident reports.

1.3.2 Wearable sensors for detecting falls

Recently, the use of wearable instrumentation to record human movement, in areas such as gesture recognition and fall detection has gained much attention. This is due in part to the success in sensor miniaturization, low power consumption and performance. Inertial sensors have the potential to be used for assessing a wide range of human movements, including activities of daily living (ADL), balance and postural sway and falls in various environments. Table 1 describes previous studies using wearable sensors to distinguish fall event from activities of daily living. These studies have utilized accelerometers (Lindemann et al., 2005; Bourke et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Quagliarella et al., 2008; Noury et al., 2003), gyroscopes (Bourke et al., 2008; Nyan et al., 2006), or a combination of both accelerometers and gyroscopes (Wu et al., 2008; Hwang et al., 2004; Noury et al., 2008). Ongoing barriers to the adoption of this technology in daily geriatric practices is limited by several factors, including inadeguate ergonomics, concern among older adults of stigmatization of fragility

and a lack of software (data analysis) algorithms to meaningfully interpret sensor data.

The ability to detect falls is especially valuable for alerting care personnel and delivering assistance to the faller. Thus, research on the development of wearable sensor systems to accurately detect falls is a rapidly growing area of investigation. Human falls are generally characterized by an impact on the floor followed by a near horizontal orientation of the legs or torso. Most wearable fall detectors are designed to detect one or both of these effects. Accelerometers are employed in the design to detect an impact, whereas tilt sensors or gyroscopes are used to determine the orientation of the faller after the impact and tilt transitions during descent. A variety of sensor locations have been employed, depending on the information desired and ease of mounting. Common locations for wearing fall detectors include the chest (Hwang et al., 2004), hips or waist (Wu et al., 2008), wrist or forearm (Degan et al., 2003), knee or thigh (Nyan et al., 2008) and head (Lindemann et al., 2005).

1.3.2.1 Post – impact fall detection

As described above, researchers have used different anatomical locations to mount sensors and have employed different techniques to detect falls. Such efforts can be divided into two main categories based upon whether the detection occurs prior to or after impact of the body with the ground (Table 1). The most

common and simple methodology for fall detection is by using a tri-axial accelerometer with simple threshold-based algorithms on acceleration magnitude to detect impact. Such algorithms can be used to automatically alert a nearby call centre of a fall event when the threshold value of acceleration is exceeded.

Bourke et al., (2007) introduced a threshold algorithm to distinguish between normal activities and falls. A set of prescribed daily activities were performed by 10 community dwelling older adults (3 women, 7 men) which included sitting down and standing up from chairs of various heights, getting in and out of a car seat, lying down and standing up from a bed and walking normally for 10 meters. Ten young adults simulated falls in forward, backward and lateral directions. Subjects were instructed to fall freely without breaking the falls. The ability to discriminate falls from normal activities was examined using two tri-axial accelerometers mounted on the thigh and sternum. The authors constructed a threshold algorithm based on investigation of peaks in accelerations from the thigh and sternum. Under the test conditions, this system proved 100% successful in fall detection after the body impact with the ground.

1.3.2.2 Pre – impact fall detection

Unlike post – impact fall detection systems, those that employ early detection of falls before the body impacts the ground offer the potential to prevent fractures (for example through an "inflatable" hip protector). During a fall, there is

typically a period of "free fall" during which the vertical speed of the body segments increases with time due to gravitational acceleration. Based on this notion, Wu, (2000) compared features of the velocity profile of the trunk that separated daily activities from fall events, with the goal of developing a technique for automatic detection of falls during the descending phase prior to impact. Normal activities included walking, rising from a chair and sitting down, descending stairs, picking up an object from the floor, transferring in and out of a tub and lying down to a bed. In addition to normal activities, three young healthy adults recruited for the experiment performed falls in the forward and backward direction. The authors reported that all normal activities (n = 116) were identified whereas from 46 fall trials, 45 were identified accurately. Also, the system identified the falls with an average lead-time of 420 milliseconds prior to the pelvis impacting the ground. Brief descriptions of additional studies that address pre and post fall detection are listed in Table 1.

1.4 Goals and objective

To date, we have a lack of understanding of the cause or precipitating circumstances for falls in older adults, and how these are associated with intrinsic (dizziness, weakness etc.) and extrinsic factors (environmental hazards causing slipping, tripping etc.). Improved technology in this area should allow us to develop more specific and alternative measures for the prevention of falls in the elderly population.

The main aim of this thesis is therefore to develop a wearable sensor system that can accurately determine the cause of a fall, between categories such as slip, trip, faint, or incorrect transfer while sitting, standing, reaching, or turning. I address this goal by examining how the location and number of acceleration sensors influence the accuracy of a data analysis classification scheme in distinguishing the above-mentioned types of falls. In particular, I used a motion capture analysis system to acquire kinematic measures of falls with young adults in a laboratory setting. My experiments simulated three general types of fall causation: a) slips, b) trips and c) others causes. "Other causes" included five sub-categories: i) fainting, ii) incorrect transfer while sitting on a chair, iii) incorrect transfer while standing up from a chair, iv) reaching and v) turning. I then developed a linear discriminant analysis technique using Fisher's criterion to classify fall types as based on acceleration from various bodymounted sensors, and finally examined how system's accuracy depends on sensor number and location.

In summary, my thesis research addressed the following objectives;

- a) To design an experiment protocol to simulate various common causes of falls among older adults;
- b) To conduct laboratory experiments using this protocol with young adults to acquire body segment motions during these falls;
- c) To develop a scheme to analyse experimental acceleration data based on Linear Discriminant Analysis to classify falls into the various categories (slip, trip or other causes); and

 d) To conduct analysis to examine how the location and number of sensors influences the system's accuracy in distinguishing the causes of falls.

ł

,

1.5 Tables

Table 1-1: An overview of fall detection research studies.

STUDY	SENSOR ARRAY		TESTING CONDITIONS		SYSTEM ACCURACY	TIME OF FALL
	Type of sensor(s)	Location of sensors	Nature of falls (types and subjects)	Activities of daily living (types and subjects	%	Relative to Impact (ms)
Wu, (2000).	Reflective Markers (Motion Capture System)	C3 T2 L5	3 Young Adults Tripping, Backward falls, Forward falls	3 Young Adults Walking, rising from a chair and sitting down, Descending stairs, Picking up an object from the floor, Transferring in and out of a tub, Lying down to a bed	Out of 116 ADLs and 46 falls Sensitivity = 98% Specificity = 100%	Falls detected 420 msec before end of fall.
Wu and Xeu, (2008).	Accelerometer and Gyroscope.	Waist	10 Young Adults Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall, Down fall	14 older Adults Walking normally and sway walking, Sitting down and rising, Picking up an object from the floor, Transferring in and out of a tub, Lying down and getting up from a bed, Tripping, Being pushed, Drive a car, Use escalator	Sensitivity = 100 Specificity = 100	Falls were detected in 70 – 375 msec prior to impact.
Tamura, et al., (2000).	Photo sensor	Left lumbar region	1 Young Adult Dummy falls	1 Young Adult and 14 Hemiplegic patients during their rehabilitation training, Walking straight Ascending and descending stairs	False alarm occurred during: Person changed clothes, Rode bicycle, Went to bed	Falls were identified after the body impact
Hwang, et al., (2004).	Accelerometer, Gyroscope and tilt sensor	Sternum	3 Young Adults Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall	3 Young Adult Sitting and standing, Normal daily activities	Out of 30 falls 4 were not identified. Total system accuracy was 96.7%	Falls were identified after the body impact.
Lindemann, et al., (2005).	Accelerometer	Head	1 Young Adult Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall, Collapse, Fall while picking an object from floor	1 Young Adult Sitting on a chair, Lying down, Walking, Running, Stair climbing	False alarm triggered when the device was hit by the hand.	Falls were identified after the body impact.
Bourke, et al., (2008).	Gyroscope	Sternum	10 Young Adults Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall	10 Older Adults Walking, Sitting and standing up from a chair, Getting in and out of a car seat, Lying down and standing up from a	Falls and ADLs were detected accurately. Sensitivity = 100%	Falls were identified after the body impact.

				bed	Specificity = 100%	
Bourke, et al., (2006).	Accelerometer	Sternum and thigh.	10 Young Adults Forward fall, , Backward fall, Sideways fall	10 Older Adults Walking, Sitting and standing up from a chair, Getting in and out of a car seat, Lying down and standing up from a bed	Separate threshold values were defined for thigh and sternum. Sensitivity = 100% Specificity = 100%	Falls were identified after the body impact.
Srinivasan, et al., (2007).	Accelerometer and a motion detector	Accelerome ter on waist, motion detector on wall	15 Young Adults Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall	15 Young Adults Sitting, Standing, Walking, Walking fast, Hopping, Climbing up, Climbing down, Climbing down, Rotating in a chair	There was no false alarm and out of 96 falls 91 were detected accurately.	Falls were identified after the body impact.
Chen, et al., (2005).	Accelerometer	Waist	2 Young Adults Forward,Backward and sideways fall	2 Young Adults Walking, Sitting	Sensitivity = 100% Specificity = 100%	Falls were identified after the body impact.
Nyan, et al., (2008).	Two accelerometers and a gyroscope	Thigh and waist	21 Young Adults Fainting	21 Young Adults Walking, Sitting down and standing up from a chair, Lying, Ascending and descending stairs	Out of 216 ADLs and 42 falls system showed: Sensitivity = 94.5% Specificity = 100%	Falls were detected (prior to impact) with an average lead time of 700 msec.
Quagliarella, et al., (2008).	Accelerometer	Not mentioned	10 Young Adults Forward fall, Backward fall, Sideways fall	10 Older Adults i. Walking forward, Walking and going down one step, Walking and then sitting on a chair, Walking then sitting down and finally lying down on a bed, Walking and then picking up an object from the floor	Out of 200 ADLs and 200 falls system showed: Sensitivity = 100% Specificity = 100%	Falls were detected after the impact.
Noury, et al., (2003).	Accelerometer	celerometer Under the left armpit	10 Young Adults Backward fall ending in sitting, lying and lateral lying, Forward fall ending in alying and with rotating motion, Syncope ending with sitting, lying and lateral lying	10 Young Adults Normal walking then bending down and kneeling, Normal walking and then hitting the wall laterally, Sitting down and then lying on bed, Standing up and then sitting on a chair.	Sensitivity = 79% Specificity = 83%	Not mentioned

2: CHAPTER 2 AN ANALYSIS OF THE ACCURACY OF WEARABLE SENSORS FOR DETECTING FALLS CAUSED BY SLIPS AND TRIPS

2.1 Introduction

Wearable kinematic sensors, typically consisting of accelerometers and/or gyroscopes, represent a promising technique for determining how and why falls occur in older adults. This information is essential for the development of improved strategies for reducing the risk for falls and fall-related injuries (Tinetti et al., 1997; Nevitt and Cummings, 1993; Schwartz et al., 1998), and for understanding how physiological and environmental variables contribute to falls. Currently, our understanding of the cause and circumstances of falls occur is based on self-reports of fall events, which may be unreliable (Nevitt and Cummings, 1993; Cummings et al., 1988), or witness accounts, which are often unavailable (Hayes et al., 1993; Nurmi et al., 1996; Wagner et al., 2005).

Wearable sensors represent a promising technique for providing objective information on the fall mechanism. However, to date, fall-related research on wearable sensor systems has been restricted to a single outcome - detecting the occurrence of a fall (Lindemann et al., 2005; Bourke et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Quagliarella et al., 2008; Noury et al., 2003;Bourke et al., 2008; Nyan et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2008; Hwang et al., 2004; Noury et al., 2008). An important application of such data is the automatic alerting of caregivers that a fall has occurred. However, the potential utility of wearable sensor systems extends beyond detecting a fall, to applications such as prompting balance recovery responses, triggering the deployment of protective clothing (such as inflatable hip and head protectors (Fukaya and Uchida, 2008)), or providing information on fall severity and related injuries. Furthermore, wearable sensor systems have the capacity to provide insight on the cause and activity at the time of a fall. However, a major challenge to engineers in designing these systems is to establish the sensor hardware, and related data analysis routines, necessary to provide accurate information on the outcome of interest.

In this study, my goal was to develop a wearable sensor system, and a related data classification scheme, for accurately characterizing the cause of falls due to slips, trips and other types of loss-of-balance. I addressed this goal by conducting laboratory "falling experiments" with young adults, acquiring whole-body kinematic data for a wide range of fall causes. I then systematically input acceleration data, from the time interval immediately preceding the fall, into a linear discriminant analysis classification routine, to determine how system accuracy in predicting the cause of fall depended on the number and location of the accelerometer sensors. My results indicate that high system accuracy for detecting the cause of fall can be achieved with as few as three sensors. My

methods serve as a template for the development of additional applications of wearable sensors systems in falls research and prevention.

2.2 Material and methods

2.2.1 Participants

Sixteen young healthy individuals (12 men and 4 women) participated in this study with ages ranging from 20 to 35 years (mean = 25.6 yrs, SD = 3.8). All participants were either "under graduate" or "graduate" students at Simon Fraser University and were recruited through advertisements and flyers on university notice boards. The experiment protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Simon Fraser University and all participants provided informed written consent.

2.2.2 Experimental Protocol

The experiment protocol for my laboratory falling experiment was based on recent efforts by our laboratory to examine the causes of real-life falls in older adults residing in long-term care, as captured on video by a large network of digital video cameras (Robinovitch et al., 2009). Based on these observations, I simulated these specific classes of fall causation: slips, trips, and "other" causes (Figure 2-1). Prior to the start of the experiment, each subject was shown specific videos (Figure 2-2) from our records of falls in older adults due to slips, trips, and five other causes (fainting or syncope, reaching for an object, turning, incorrect

weight shifting while sitting down on a chair and while rising from sitting). Subjects were instructed to imitate these falls as accurately as possible during the experimental trials, as described below.

In slipping trials, subjects were instructed to walk over a low friction plastic sheet, and either acted out a slip (n = 6), or were made to slip by rapidly translating the plastic sheet (n = 6) under their feet (Figure 2-2). I acquired 12 trials in each condition, in half of which, I instructed the subject to try to recover balance, and in the other six I instructed him/her to fall. Tripping trials were simulated either by having a rope tether attached to the subject's ankle to suddenly become taut or by instructing the subject to act out tripping over an obstacle (a wooden block of approximately 10 cm width and 15 cm height). The length of the tether rope was adjusted to become taut during the middle of the swing phase of the third step. Again, 12 trials were acquired, half of which involved balance recovery, and the other half falls. In "other fall" trials, the subject was instructed to act out falls due to five different causes (n = 3 per cause): fainting (or syncope), reaching for an object, turning, incorrect weight shifting while sitting down on a chair and while rising from sitting. I also acquired trials with each participant involving normal walking (n = 3).

In the current analysis, I only considered trials that resulted in a fall. Therefore, over the 16 subjects, a total of 96 slips, 96 trips and 288 "other cause" trials were analyzed.

2.2.3 Data collection

During each trial, I used an eight camera motion analysis system (Eagle system, Motion Analysis Corp.) recording at 120Hz to acquire the threedimensional positions of 22 reflective skin markers. The markers were located bilaterally on the lateral malleolus, lateral epicondyle of the femur, greater trochanter, anterior superior iliac spine, acromion, lateral epicondyle of the humerus, dorsal surface of the hand, scapula and at the sternum, C7 vertebrae, sacrum and the front, top and back of the head.

Position data were low pass filtered using a recursive Butterworth filter (4th order, cut-off frequency 20 Hz) and double differentiated to estimate accelerations.

2.3 Data Analysis

Data analysis focused on determining whether the cause of falls could be accurately predicted from 3D acceleration data from five key anatomical locations (left foot, right foot, waist, sternum and head), selected based on their feasibility for sensor placement on the human body. For each trial, I inspected motion data to determine the approximate instant (T_o) when the pelvis first impacted the ground. Acceleration data for the 1500 milliseconds preceding pelvis impact were input to my fall classification algorithm (as described below). Previous studies (Hsiao and Robinovitch, 1998 and, Feldman and Robinovitch, 2007) have shown

that the time interval between the loss of balance and the fall impact range from 450 milliseconds to 750 milliseconds with a mean value of about 700 milliseconds. Thus, I regarded acceleration trajectories over a time window of 1500 milliseconds prior to the pelvis impact as sufficient to capture the initiation and descent phase of each fall, and this was indeed shown to be the case for all ⁴ falls analysed (Figure 2-3).

From each of the five markers' X, Y and Z acceleration traces, I calculated the mean and variance over the 1500 ms preceding pelvis impact. These outcomes resulted in a 30 dimensional "feature vector". Based on the assumption that the feature vectors from the three fall types were linearly separable, I used Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) using Fisher's criterion to classify the causes of falls. In the procedure I split the feature vector into training and testing sets of equal size by choosing data from the first eight subjects for training and the following eight for testing. The procedure transforms a classification problem from a higher to lower dimensional feature space through a set of projection operations, which results in optimal separability among different classes (Baudat and Anouar, 2000; Muller et al., 2001). Classifying two or more sets of data, can be achieved by maximizing the ratio of between-class scatter as divided by within-class scatter:

$$J(w) = \arg \max_{w} \left(\frac{w^{\mathrm{T}} \mathrm{S}_{\mathrm{b}} w}{w^{\mathrm{T}} \mathrm{S}_{\mathrm{w}} w} \right)$$

where "*w*" is a linear transform, " S_b " is the between class variance, " S_w " is the within class variance, and " $argmax_w$ " refers to maximizing the above equation. The generalization of the within-class " S_w " and the between-class scatter " S_b " for "*K*" classes are given by the following expression:

$$m_{k} = \frac{1}{|N_{k}|} \sum_{n \in C_{k}} x_{n},$$

$$\mu = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{K} N_{k} \mu_{k},$$

$$S_{w} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{n \in C_{k}} (x - m_{k})(x - m_{k})^{T}$$

and

...

$$S_b = \sum_{k=1}^{K} N_k (m_k - \mu) (m_k - \mu)^T.$$

Here m_k is the sample mean for the k^{th} class, N_k is the number of patterns in class C_k , $|N_k|$ indicates the number of vectors in the k^{th} class and $N = \sum_k N_k$ in the total number of data points (Bishop, 2006).

I conducted linear discriminant analysis using acceleration data from each marker, and for each possible combination of 2, 3, 4 and 5 markers. In each case, I then constructed confusion matrices (Tables 2-1 to 2-15) and used these to calculate sensitivity, specificity, precision and accuracy (Figure 2-4 B) as follows:

$$Sensitivity = \frac{True \ Positive}{True \ Positive + False \ Negative} \times 100 ,$$

$$Specificity = \frac{True \ Negative}{True \ Negative + False \ Positive} \times 100 ,$$

$$Precision = \frac{True \ Positive}{True \ Positive + Flase \ Positive} \times 100 ,$$
and
$$Accuracy$$

=

$$\frac{True \ Positive + True \ Negative}{True \ Positive + True \ Negative + False \ Positive + False \ Negative} \times 100.$$

where true positive, false positive, true negative and false negative are explained graphically in Figure 2-5 and defined specifically for each fall cause in Figure 2-4 B. However, results will primarily focus on system's sensitivity and marker location or combination of markers will be ranked based upon the Highest Minimum Sensitivity across the three conditions.

2.4 Results

The accuracy of the linear discriminant classification algorithm in classifying the cause of falls depended strongly on the location and number of markers, and varied considerably between the different types of falls (Table 2-16). With a single marker, the best sensitivity was achieved by the "head" and "waist" markers, which provided at least 52% sensitivity. In contrast the sternum marker provided only a minimum of 31% sensitivity. The single markers, head, sternum and waist, were most effective at classifying other causes of falls with sensitivities 85%, 92% and 96% respectively, and least effective at classifying trips (52%, 31% and 52% respectively). With a single waist marker, system was able to detect both slips and other causes of falls with 96% sensitivities whereas, head and sternum markers showed 79% sensitivities in identifying slips. With the single markers results showed that both slips and other causes could be detected with at least 79% sensitivities but trips were more difficult to classify with a single marker (52% sensitivity for waist or head marker).

With two markers the best sensitivity was observed with the combination of left foot + right foot, which provided at least 79% sensitivity. In comparison, markers combinations of waist + sternum, and waist + head, provided at least 54% and 56% sensitivities respectively. The combination of left foot + right foot provided accurate detection of trips and other falls with 92% and 90% sensitivities respectively, but was less successful in classifying slips (79% sensitivity). On the other hand, the waist + sternum combination, and the waist +

head combination, were accurate in determining slips (with 100% and 96% sensitivities, respectively) and other causes (with 98% and 97% sensitivities) but less accurate for trips (with 54% and 56% sensitivities). Similarly, the sternum + head combination was effective for detecting slips (89%) and other causes (92%), but not for trips (71%).

The best sensitivity was observed with three markers, left foot + right foot + sternum, which provided at least 96% sensitivity in all three fall types. The second, and the third best three-marker combinations were left foot + right foot + waist and, left foot + right foot + head, with at least 89% and 87% sensitivities respectively. Also, results showed that even though upper extremity markers (waist, sternum and head) provided high sensitivities in identifying falls due to slips and other causes, the markers at feet were found critical to accurately classify falls due to trips. This observation was also supported by three markers combination of waist + sternum + head, which successfully detected slips and other causes with 94% and 97% sensitivities respectively but provided only 58% sensitivity for trips.

The minimum sensitivity was no better with four and five markers than with three. With four markers, the best sensitivity was observed with the combination of left foot + right foot + waist + sternum, which provided at least 94% sensitivity. The other two four-marker combinations each provided at least 89% sensitivity. Moreover, with four and five markers combinations, system did not show a

noticeable difference between sensitivities in detecting slips and other causes (reference: Table 2-16).

In addition to sensitivity, other measures such as specificity, precision and accuracy were also taken into account in evaluating the performance of the wearable sensor system. Specificity (risks for fall positives) was generally high throughout the results. However, it was found decreasing below 80% in only one case when a single sternum marker was used in classifying falls due to "other causes". Precision (proportion of true positives against all positive results) was found to be lower for slips than for trips and "other causes". The three-marker combination of left foot + right foot + sternum provided the highest precision (of 94%, 87% and 100% in evaluating falls due to slips, trips and "other causes" respectively). Accuracy (proportion of true results in the population) was also found high with the three-marker combination of left foot + sternum providing al least 87% accuracy.

2.5 Discussion

This study examined the utility of a wearable sensor array for detecting the causes of falls acquired in a laboratory setting. My results indicate that three dimensional acceleration data from three markers (mounted at left foot, right foot and sternum) entered into a linear discriminant model provide at least 96% sensitivity in distinguishing falls due to slips, trips and other causes. In contrast,

the best two marker combinations (left foot + right foot) provided a minimum sensitivity of only 79%. This work contributes to the development of comprehensive fall monitoring systems based on wearable sensors, which might also provide information on characteristics such as the activity at the time of the fall, impact severity, ability to rise after falling and physiological variables (EMG, ⁺ ECG) that may provide further insight on the cause of falls.

The need for sensors at three anatomic sites (left foot + right foot + sternum) reflected the observation that no two-sensor combination was able to capture body kinematics unique to each fall type, and achieve high accuracy in classifying all three types of falls. Slips are initiated just after heel strike, and involve forward sliding of the foot along the ground, resulting typically in backward fall. I found that such falls could be accurately detected with a single marker at the waist (96% sensitivity) and with combinations of waist + sternum or waist + head. On the other hand, trips are caused by obstruction of forward movement of the foot during walking, usually due to contact with an obstacle, and subsequent anterior rotation of the torso leading to a forward fall. A single marker had poor sensitivity (52%) for detecting such falls, which require sensors on both right and left foot. In contrast, any of the two marker combinations I examined was accurate in distinguishing falls due to "other causes" from those due to slips and trips. Collectively, these observations for two-marker combinations explains why three markers are required for comprehensive "cause of fall" detection.
Table 2-16 also illustrates specificity, precision and accuracy as measures of system performance. Specificity was often higher than sensitivity, which suggests that the system was better at classifying "negatives" than "positives" (Figure 2-6). However, one exception was noted for the sternum marker, which often misclassified falls due to slips and/or trips as due to "other causes". In general, precision was lower than sensitivity, suggesting a higher number of false positives than false negatives. In terms of accuracy, the three-marker combination of left foot + right foot + sternum provided 98%, 96% and 97% accuracy in classifying falls due to slips, trips and "other causes" respectively.

There are important limitations to this study. Due to safety concerns, all falls were performed by healthy individuals between the ages 20 and 35 years. There are inevitable discrepancies between the falls of these young individuals and older adults. Also, all falls were performed under controlled laboratory conditions. Furthermore, acceleration data analysed to classify three fall causes, were calculated by double differentiating position data obtained from the Motion Analysis System. It can be argued that the proposed wearable sensors (accelerometers) may have different X, Y and Z - axis acceleration profiles (due to the non-static frame of reference as opposed to camera based Motion Capture System). However, the strength of my study is the application of a Machine Learning algorithm (Linear Discriminant Analysis) that allows the system to change behaviour based on available data. Therefore, it is expected that my system would behave in a similar manner with accelerometer data as was

observed in this study. Another strength of my study is the utilization of video segments of real life falls by older adults in our training session. During the course of this experiment, I also included two types of slips and trips (self induced and perturbation based), and five types of "other falls" to enhance external validity.

In conclusion, I developed a cause of fall detection strategy based on wearable sensors, and found this provided 96% sensitivity in distinguishing slips, trips and other causes of falls based on 3D acceleration data from the right foot, left and sternum input to a linear discriminant model. Placing sensors at different body locations (such as head and sternum) presents an issue in itself when considering the size of sensor units found in market today. However, one may expect that, within a years' time, sensors may become available the size of "band-aids", which would enhance both compliance and sensor placement. Furthermore, the potential utility of the proposed wearable sensor system extends beyond detecting the causes of fall, to applications such as prompting balance recovery responses, triggering the deployment of protective clothing (such as inflatable hip and head protectors), or providing information on fall and injury severity. The method employed here provide a useful templte for the development and evaluation of such efforts.

2.6 Figures



Figure 2-1: Flow chart representing experiment protocol. The extended branches show the various types of falls that subjects were instructed to imitate. Sixteen subjects (12 males and 4 females) performed each trial three times, resulting in 96 falls due to slips, 96 due to trips and 288 due to "other causes"

A Slip and fall



B Trip and fall



Figure 2-2: Simulation of falls due to slips and trips in laboratory. The figues show comparison between real-life falls captured on surveillance cameras in long term care (LTC) facility and fall simulated through young adults in laboratory.
 (A) Comparison between a simulated slip and real-life slip. (B) Comparison between a simulated trip.



Figure 2-3: Sample 3-dimensional acceleration traces from a typical participant in slip, trip and faint/collapse falling trial. Along the x-axis 1.5 seconds time reflects an approximate instance for pelvis impact.

.

÷

	Sensor location: Le	ft Foot + Right Foot	+ Sternum	
Classified as \sum	Slips (n = 48)	Trips (n = 48)	Other (n = 144)	
Slips	46	2	0	
Trips	2	46	0	
Other	1	5	138	

В

Α

		For Slips				For Trip	os			For Others		
Classi	fied	Slips	Trips	Others		Slips	Trips	Others		Slips	Trips	Others
-	Slips	TP ·	FN	FN	Slips	TN	FP	TN	Slips	TN	TN	FP
	Trips	FP	TN	TN	Trips	FN	TP	FN	Trips	TN	TN	FP
	Others	FP	TN	TN	Others	TN	FP	TN	Others	FN	FN	TP

•/

Figure 2-4: (A) Confusion matrix, representing results from the best marker combination. (B) Defining true positive (TP), true negative (TN), false positive (FP) and false negative (FN) for three types of falls.



Figure 2-5: Graphical representation of various measures of performance in terms of true positive, true negative, false positive and false negative.



Figure 2-6: Sensitivity comparison for sensor combinations

2.7 Tables

Table 2-1: Confusion matrix, Head marker

Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	38	1	9	
Trips	18	25	5	
Other causes	11	11	122	
				<u> </u>

ì

Marker Position: Head

Table 2-2: Confusion matrix, Sternum marker

Marker Position: Sternum

Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	38	0	10	
Trips	13	15 .	20	
Other causes	11	1	132	

Table 2-3: Confusion matrix, Waist marker



Table 2-4: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot



Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	38	5	5	
Trips	4	44	0	
Other causes	11	3.	130	

Table 2-5: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum



Marker Position: Waist + Sternum

Table 2-6: Confusion matrix, Head + Waist



Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	46	1	1	
Trips	16	27	5	
Other causes	1	3	140	

Table 2-7: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Head



ì

Marker Position: Sternum + Head

Table 2-8: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist Image: Confusion matrix

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist

Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	46	2	0	
Trips	4	43	1	
Other causes	2	1	141	

Table 2-9: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum



Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum

Table 2-10: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Head

	Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Head								
Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes						
Slips	46	2	0						
Trips	6	42	0						
Other causes	3	2	139						



Table 2-11: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Waist + Head

Table 2-12: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Waist

Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	45	2	1	
Trips	3	45	0	
Other causes	1	2	141	

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Waist



Table 2-13: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Head

Table 2-14: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Head

	Marker Position: L	Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Head								
Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes							
Slips	46	2	0							
Trips	5	43	0							
Other causes	1	3	140							

Table 2-15: Confusion matrix, Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Sternum + Head

Classified as	Slips	Trips	Other causes	
Slips	45	2	1	
Trips	4	44	0	
Other causes	2	2	140	

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Waist + Head

ì

		Slips (n = 48) Trips (n = 48)				Others (n = 144)						
Marker Combination	Sens	Spec	Prec	Accu	Sens	Spec	Prec	Accu	Sens	Spec	Prec	Accu
Head	79	85	57	84	52	93	67	85	85	85	90	85
Sternum	79	87	61	86	31	99	94	86	92	69	81	82
Waist	96	91	73	92	52	98	85	89	96	92	95	95
	_											
Left Foot + Right Foot	79	92	72	89	92	96	85	95	90	95	96	92
Waist + Sternum	100	94	80	95	54	98	90	89	98	89	93	94
Waist + Head	96	91	73	92	56	98	87	89	97	94	96	96
Sternum + Head	89	95	83	94	71	94	75	89	92	88	92	90
	· · · · ·	1			T	· · ·	T	T	r	.	T	· ····
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist	96	97	88	97	89	98	93	97	98	99	99	98
Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum	96	98	94	98	96	96	87	96	96	100	100	97
Left Foot + Right Foot + Head	96	95	84	95	87	98	91	96	96	100	100	. 98
Waist + Sternum + Head	94	91	71	91	58	98	87	90	97	95	96	96
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Sternum	94	98	92	97	94	98	92	97	98	99	99	98
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist+ Head	94	96	86	96	89	98	93	97	98	99	99	98
Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Head	96	97	88	97	89	97	89	96	97	100	100	98
Right Foot + Left Foot + Waist + Sternum + Head	94	97	88	96	92	98	92	97	97	99	99	98
Legend:- Sens (Sensitivity (%)) = $\frac{TP}{TP + FN} \times 100$ Prec (Precision (%)) = $\frac{TP}{TP + FP} \times 100$			Spec (S Accu (A	pecificity Accuracy	(%)) = (%)) =	$\frac{TN}{TN + FP}$ $\frac{TP}{TP + TN}$	$\frac{1}{5} \times 100$ + TN + FP +	$\overline{FN} \times 100$	0			

Table 2-16: Sensitivity, specificity, precision and accuracy of marker array in detecting the cause of falls

•,

3: CHAPTER 3 ACCURACY OF WEARABLE SENSORS FOR DISTINGUISHING FALLS CAUSED BY DIFFERENT WEIGHT SHIFTING ACTIVITIES

3.1 Introduction

Falls are the number one cause of injury in older adults. An accurate understanding of the cause and circumstances of falls is essential to guiding interventions at the level of the patient or population. Incident reports represent the primary mechanism for collecting information of fall mechanisms in long term care facilities (LTC). Such reports are completed by nursing staff who either interview the faller or witness, or perhaps witness the fall themselves. Current available statistics derived from incident reports and retrospective surveys suggest that approximately 50% of falls in the older adults are due to slips and trips (Berg et al., 1997; Cavanillas et al., 2000; Troy et al., 2006). However, the accuracy of these methods has been questioned (Cummings et al., 1988; Wei et al., 2001; Feldman, 2009). Recalling the mechanics of a fall event is challenging even for young adults (Feldman, 2009), and may be especially difficult for older adults with cognitive impairment, which is common in LTC residents. Furthermore, most falls, even in LTC, are un-witnessed (Hayes et al., 1993; Nurmi et al., 1996; Wagner et al., 2005). Therefore, to understand the causes of

falls and formulate effective fall prevention strategies, researchers, clinicians and policy makers cannot rely solely on conventional methods and new techniques are required to reliably detect and provide information on the cause of falls in older adults.

Wearable inertial sensors have received increasing attention by researchers interested in developing accurate methods for monitoring mobility and falls. Due to rapid progress in miniaturization and decreasing costs, the range of applications for such systems has expanded to fields including automobile and avionics, animation and photography, computers and telecommunications and health and safety. In recent years, as the public health importance of falls in older adults has received increased recognition, numerous studies have examined the potential of wearable inertial sensors (accelerometer, gyroscopes, tilt sensors etc.) to detect falls (Lindemann et al., 2005; Bourke et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005; Quagliarella et al., 2008; Noury et al., 2003; Bourke, et al., 2008; Nyan et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2008; Hwang et al., 2004; Noury et al., 2008). However, in addition to detecting falls (which is important for alerting health providers or family members about the event), wearable sensor systems offer the potential to provide information on the cause of the fall and the physiological mechanisms contributing to the event.

In chapter 2, I showed that a wearable sensor system consisting of 3D acceleration of three sensors (at the feet and sternum) was able to distinguish

with 96% sensitivity the causes of falls due to slips, trips and "other causes". In the current study, I extend this line of inquiry to examine the utility of such systems for distinguishing between the five individual sub-cases of "other falls": i) fainting, ii) incorrect transfer of weight while sitting down on a chair (IT-sitting), iii) incorrect transfer of weight while standing up from sitting (IT-rising), iv) reaching, and v) turning. I addressed this goal by conducting "falling experiments" with young adults and acquiring whole-body kinematic data from a 3D motion analysis system. I then input acceleration data into a linear discriminant analysis classification routine to examine how the location and number of acceleration sensors influence the accuracy of the system in distinguishing the abovementioned five types of falls. This study contributes to the development of an automatic, wearable system to complement conventional methods to gather information on the cause and circumstances of falls in older adults.

3.2 Material and methods

3.2.1 Participants

Sixteen young healthy subjects (12 male; 4 female) participated in the experiment, ranging in age from 20 to 35 years (mean = 25.6 yrs, SD = 3.8). Safety precautions prevented us from including older adults in our falling trials. All subjects were undergraduate or graduate students at Simon Fraser University, recruited through advertisements posted on university notice boards. All

participants provided informed written consent, and the experiment protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Simon Fraser University.

3.2.2 Experiment Protocol

During the experiment, five different types of falls were simulated (Figure 3-1), all of which resulted in impact on a 30 cm thick gymnasium mat: i) fainting or syncope; ii) incorrect transfer while sitting on a chair (IT-sitting); iii) incorrect transfer while rising from an initial sitting position (IT-rising), iv); reaching for an object below knee height; and v) turning 180°. Prior to the start of the experiment, each subject was shown specific videos from our records of real life falls in older adults due to the aforementioned five other causes. In addition, trials with subjects walking normally for approximately 5 meters, were also conducted. The sequence of presentation of the various fall types was randomized across subjects to minimize the effect of fatigue or learning on fall behaviour.

In fainting trials, subjects were instructed to stand on the gym mat and then suddenly relax (or collapse) the legs to act out a faint as naturally as possible. No instruction was given about the direction of the fall. In falls due to incorrect transfer while sitting, I instructed participants to begin in a standing position, and then lower the body in a controlled manner to simulate sitting down on a fictitious chair, and at the expected contact position, to lose their balance and fall backward. In falls due to incorrect transfer while rising, subjects initially

sat on a chair and were instructed to lose their balance while attempting to stand up. No instruction was provided on the fall direction. In falls caused by reaching, subjects were instructed to reach and pick up an object placed on the ground in front of them, primarily by bending at the waist and, after retrieving the object, to lose balance upon rising and fall backward. In falls due to turning, subjects were ' instructed to turn 180 degrees from standing, lose balance and fall. Again, no instruction was provided on the desired fall direction.

Each subject underwent three trials in each of the five conditions. Therefore, from sixteen subjects I collected a total of 48 trials for each category.

3.2.3 Data collection

During the trials, I used an eight camera motion analysis system (Eagle system, Motion Analysis Corp.) to acquire three-dimensional position data at 120 Hz from 22 reflective skin markers. Markers were located bilaterally on the lateral malleolus, lateral epicondyle of the femur, greater trochanter, anterior superior iliac spine, acromion, lateral epicondyle of the humerus, dorsal surface of the hand and scapula, and at the sternum, C7 vertebrae, sacrum and at the front, back and top of the head. Position data were then low pass filtered using a recursive butterworth filter (4th order, cutoff frequency = 20Hz) and double differentiated to estimate accelerations.

3.3 Data Analysis

Data analysis focused on determining whether the cause of falls could be accurately predicted from 3D acceleration data from five key anatomical locations (left foot, right foot, waist, sternum and head), selected based on their feasibility for sensor placement on the human body. For each trial, I inspected motion data to determine the approximate instant when the pelvis first impacted the ground. Acceleration data, for the 1500 milliseconds preceding pelvis impact (Figure 3-2) were input to my fall classification algorithm, showed subtle changes in acceleration profiles across various fall types. For example – peak accelerations observed from the waist marker in the z-axis reflected the occurrence and instant of falls (pelvis impact). Similarly, in this particular trial, the sternum marker showed similar traces of acceleration while simulating falls due to reaching and turning. However, waist marker provided distinct acceleration profiles in falls due to IT-rising as opposed to the other four fall types.

Therefore, for the classification of the above-mentioned five types of falls, I calculated the mean and variance of the five markers' X, Y and Z acceleration traces over the 1500 ms preceding pelvis impact. These outcomes resulted in a 30 dimensional "feature vector". Based on the assumption that the feature vectors from the three fall types were linearly separable, I used Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) using Fisher's criterion to classify the causes of falls. In the procedure, I split the feature vector into training and testing sets of equal size by choosing data from the first eight subjects for training and the following

eight for testing. The procedure LDA transforms a classification problem from a higher to lower dimensional feature space through a set of projection operations, which results in optimal separability among different classes (Baudat and Anouar, 2000; Muller et al., 2001). To classify two or more sets of data, this can be achieved by maximizing the following ratio of between-class scatter divided by within-class scatter:

$$J(w) = \arg \max_{w} \left(\frac{w^{T} S_{b} w}{w^{T} S_{w} w} \right)$$

where "*w*" is a linear transform, " S_b " is the between class variance, " S_w " is the within class variance, and " $argmax_w$ " refers to maximizing the above equation. The generalization of the within-class scatter " S_w " and the betweenclass scatter " S_b " for "*K*" classes are given by the following expression:

$$\begin{split} m_k &= \frac{1}{|N_k|} \sum_{n \in C_k} x_n , \\ \mu &= \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^K N_k \mu_k , \\ S_w &= \sum_{k=1}^K \sum_{n \in C_k} (x - m_k) (x - m_k)^T , \end{split}$$

and

$$S_b = \sum_{k=1}^{K} N_k (m_k - \mu) (m_k - \mu)^T.$$

Here m_k is the sample mean for the k^{th} class, N_k is the number of patterns in class C_k , $|N_k|$ indicates the number of vectors in the k^{th} class and $N = \sum_k N_k$ in the total number of data points (Bishop, 2006).

I conducted linear discriminant analysis using acceleration data from each marker, and for each possible combination of 2, 3, 4 and 5 markers. In each case, I then constructed confusion matrices (Tables 3-1 to 3-15) and used these to calculate sensitivity and specificity as follows:

sensitivity =
$$\frac{\text{TP}}{\text{TP} + \text{FN}} \times 100$$
 and

specificity =
$$\frac{\text{TN}}{\text{TN} + \text{FP}} \times 100.$$

Where TP = true positive, FN = false negative, FP = false positive, and TN = true negative.

For each number of markers (ranging from one to five), I ranked the performance of a given marker location, or combination of markers, based on the number of fall categories for which it provided the highest sensitivity. Note that this is a departure from the performance ratings used in Chapter 2, which were based on minimal sensitivity across conditions and was deemed more suitable for the larger number of conditions examined here.

3.4 Results

With a single marker, the best classification was achieved by the head marker (Table 3-1) which provided maximum sensitivities in identifying four out of six conditions, followed by the waist marker, which provided the best sensitivity for classifying three of the six conditions. The head marker successfully identified ' walking trials from other fall causes with 100% sensitivity. Similarly, the head marker was found to be the most sensitive in detecting falls due to IT-sitting (42% sensitive), reaching (62% sensitive) and turning (67% sensitive). However, the head marker, was least effective in identifying IT-rising (46% sensitive), which were better classified by the sternum and waist markers. The waist marker was most effective in classifying falls due to fainting (33% sensitive), IT-rising (83% sensitive), and turning (67% sensitive), but showed 92% sensitivity in identifying walking from other fall causes. The sternum marker was least effective in identifying falls due to faints (17% sensitive), IT-sitting (17% sensitive), reaching (33% sensitive) and turning (58% sensitive).

With two markers, the best combination was that of head + waist, which also provided maximum sensitivities in four conditions. The marker combination of head + waist was most effective in classifying walking (100% sensitive), ITrising (83% sensitive), reaching (67% sensitive) and turning (75% sensitive), but was least effective in identifying falls due to faints (33% sensitive). Among the two markers combinations, the combination of left foot + right foot provided the highest sensitivities in detecting faints (62% sensitive) and IT-rising (83%

sensitive). However, it was less successful than other combinations in detecting walking, IT-sitting and reaching (with 83%, 29% and 50% sensitivities, respectively). Similarly, the sternum + head markers combination was most effective in identifying walking (100% sensitive) and IT-sitting (50% sensitive), and least effective in detecting IT-rising (75% sensitive) and turning (67% sensitive). In the group of two-marker combinations, the waist + sternum combination was the least accurate and provided the lowest sensitivities in detecting all five causes of falls.

With three markers, the best combination was achieved by placing markers on left foot, right foot and head, which provided maximum sensitivities in four conditions: walking (100%) and falls due to fainting (67%), IT-sitting (59%) and reaching (67%). Similarly, the three-marker combination of left foot + right foot + waist was most effective in detecting falls due to faints (67% sensitive), IT-rising (87% sensitive) and turning (79% sensitive). On the other hand, it was least successful in identifying falls due to IT-sitting and reaching, with sensitivities of 37% and 54%, respectively. The waist + sternum + head combination successfully detected walking and IT-rising with 100% and 83% sensitivities, respectively, it was least effective in classifying falls due to faints (29% sensitive), IT-sitting (50% sensitive) and turning (62% sensitive).

With four markers, the best marker combination was that of left foot + right foot + waist + head, which provided the highest sensitivity in classifying walking

and all other five causes of falls. Apart from IT-sitting (where the combination provided 54% sensitivity), all other conditions were detected with at least 71% sensitivity.

The five-marker combination of left foot + right foot + waist + sternum + head was found superior to all other marker combinations. This particular combination provided 100% sensitivity in walking trials, 71% and 62% sensitivities in detecting falls due to faints and IT-sitting and, 92%, 71% and 79% sensitivities in classifying IT-rising, reaching and turning.

3.5 Discussion

In the current study, I conducted laboratory based falling experiment to examine the utility of a wearable sensor array for distinguishing the causes of falls due to fainting or syncope, incorrect weight transfer while sitting down on a chair and rising from sitting, reaching for an object and turning. Three dimensional acceleration data from the 1.5 seconds preceding pelvis impact from five markers (mounted at left foot, right foot, waist, sternum and head) were entered into a linear discriminant model to identify the accuracy of single markers as well as combinations of 2, 3, 4 and 5 markers in distinguishing falls due to the aforementioned five causes.

In the study described in Chapter 2, I used a slightly different criterion based on the minimum observed sensitivity, to rank marker combinations. I found that three dimensional acceleration data from the three marker combination left foot + right foot + sternum when put into a linear discriminant analysis, provided at least 96% sensitivity in distinguishing falls due to slips and trips from the five types of "other falls", examined in greater detail in the current study. In this study, I had six conditions (one walking and five falls due to "other causes") which were required to be classified. Therefore, in evaluating performance, I considered a specific marker combination to be the best if it scored the highest sensitivities in the greater number of conditions classifying the most conditions.

Based on this criterion, I found that the best location for a marker was at the head, which provided the best sensitivity in four conditions walking (100% sensitive), IT-sitting (42% sensitive), reaching (62% sensitive) and turning (62% sensitive). Similarly, the best two-marker combination (of waist + head), and the best three marker combination (of left foot + right foot + head) was most sensitive in identifying four conditions. Among all four-marker combinations, the one including left foot + right foot + waist + head markers showed the best sensitivities in all six conditions, and was as sensitive as the five-marker combination for all conditions except IT-sitting (where the five-marker combination showed a slightly higher sensitivity of 62% as opposed to 54%).

However, even with the best five-marker combination, the LDA technique provided a minimal sensitivity of only 62% in distinguishing other causes of falls. This reflects that acceleration data from the five fall types were not entirely linearly separable. Of particular note is the modest sensitivity of the algorithm (at best 62%) for classifying falls due to IT-sitting and reaching for an object below knee height, which exhibit similar whole-body kinematics. Modest sensitivity was also observed for falls due to fainting which were often confused with falls due to reaching. In contrast to falls due to fainting, IT-sitting and reaching, the LDA technique was considerably more accurate in classifying walking trials and falls due to IT-rising and turning. As in the case for slips and trips examined in Chapter 2, this is primarily due to unique kinematic features of these falls (Figures 3-1 and 3-2).

While my data analysis focused primarily on sensitivity, Table 3-2 also presents specificities which were, for many fall causes, close to 100% for all marker combinations. This reflects that false positives were generally less frequent than false negatives. A specificity of 100% means that the test recognizes all actual negatives - for example in detecting "walking", system does not identify any of the five other fall causes (fainting, IT-sitting, IT-rising, reaching and turning) as walking.

As in the study described in Chapter 2, there are important limitations to this study. First, all falls were performed under controlled laboratory conditions by

healthy individuals between the age 20 and 35 years. There are inevitable discrepancies between the falls of these young individuals and older adults. However, a strength of my study was the utilization of video segments of real life falls of older adults in training sessions. Secondly, this study did not focus on fall detection, but rather determining causes of falls based on acceleration data 1.5 seconds prior to pelvis impact. However, previous research shows that the same markers, as included in my study (waist and sternum), can be used to detect an occurrence of a fall (Wu 2000; Lindemann et al., 2005; Bourke et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005 and Noury et al., 2003) with high accuracy. Third, my analyses was restricted to the use of linear discriminant analysis (with Fisher's criterion) to classify falls from acceleration data. Additional studies are required to examine the potential improvements provided by other linear and non-linear classification techniques, such as Support Vector Machine (SVM) models or Gaussian and Hidden Markov Models (HMM) to distinguish the cause of falls examined here.

In summary, I found that data from an array of up to five wearable 3D acceleration sensors, input to an LDA classification scheme, provided reasonable sensitivity (of at least 79%) in classifying falls due to loss of balance during rising and turning, but less successful in classifying falls during sitting, fainting or reaching. Future work should examine the utility of alternative classification methods, and different sensor technologies, such as gyroscopes (which provide measure of angular velocity of limb segments), for classifying the falls of interest in this study. It remains possible, however, that specific types of falls, such as

faints, cannot be easily classifies based only on kinematics, and physiological data regarding blood pressure or muscle activity (from electromyographic surface electrodes) are essential components to kinematic information in detecting such causes.

ì





i







































Figure 3-1: Simulation of falls due to fainting, incorrect transfer while sitting (IT-sitting), incorrect transfer while rising (IT-rising), reaching and turning.





Figure 3-2: Sample 3-dimensional acceleration traces from a typical participant in falls due to fainting, IT-sitting, IT-rising, reaching and turning. On the time scale, 1.5 seconds represents and approximate instant of pelvis impact.

3.7 Tables

Table 3-1: Confusion matrix, Head marker

	Marker Position: Head									
Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT-rising	Reaching	Turning				
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0				
Faint	0	6	7	3	2	6				
IT-sitting	1	2	10	0	2	9				
IT- rising	1	8	1	11	2	1				
Reaching	0	0	2	2	15	5				
Turning	0	0	2	3	3	16				

i.

Legend:

NW = Normal Walk

Faint

IT-sitting = Incorrect Transfer of body weight while Sitting

IT-rising = Incorrect Transfer of body weight while Standing

Reaching

Turning

Table 3-2: Confusion matrix, Sternum marker

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT-rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	23	1	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	4	7	7	4	2	
IT-sitting	2	7	4	2	0	9	
IT- rising	1	3	1	12	3	3	
Reaching	0	1	5	2	8	8	
Turning	1	3	0	1	5	14	
			h				<u> </u>

Marker Position: Sternum

Table 3-3: Confusion matrix, Waist marker

Marker Position: Waist

Classified as \rightarrow	N W	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	22	2	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	8	1	4	2	9	
IT-sitting	0	7	8	1	5	3	
IT- rising	0	1	2	20	0	1	
Reaching	1	0	4	3	12	4	
Turning	0	7	0	0	1	16	
	-						

Table 3-4: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	20	0	3	0	0	1	
Faint	0	15	2	0	5	2	÷
IT-sitting	2	2	7	1	9	3	
IT- rising	0	2	1	20	0	1	
Reaching	0	4	4	0	12	4	
Turning	1	1	2	0	3	17	

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot

Table 3-5: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum

Marker Position: Waist + Sternum

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	23	1	0	0	0	0	
Faint	2	8	1	3	3	7	
IT-sitting	0	9	7	0	1	7	
IT- rising	0	1	2	18	2	1	
Reaching	0	0	5	3.	12	4	
Turning	0	4	2	0	2	16	

Table 3-6: Confusion matrix, Head + Waist

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	I⊤-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	8	3	3	3	7	1
IT-sitting	0	4	9	2	1	8	
IT- rising	0	1	2	20	0	1	
Reaching	0	0	2	2	16	4	
Turning	0	3	1	0	2	18	

Marker Position: Head + Waist

Table 3-7: Confusion matrix, Sternum + Head

Marker Position: Sternum + Head

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	9	2	4	3	6	
IT-sitting	0	4	12	0	1	7	
IT- rising	1	2	2	18	1	0	
Reaching	0	1	3	2	13	5	
Turning	1	1	2	1	3	16	

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	23	0	0	0	0	1	
Faint	0	16	1	0	5	2	÷
IT-sitting	0	3	9	2	7	3	
IT- rising	0	0	2	21	0	1	
Reaching	0	4	3	0	13	4	
Turning	0	2	3	0	0	19	
						•	

Table 3-8: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist

Table 3-9: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Sternum

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum								
Classified as \rightarrow	N W	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning		
NW	23	1	0	0	0	0		
Faint	1	16	2	0	5	0		
IT-sitting	1	3	11	1	4	4		
IT- rising	0	2	1	20	0	1		
Reaching	0	3	4	0	11	6		
Turning	0	1	2	0	3	18		

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	16	2	0	4	2	÷
IT-sitting	2	2	13	1	4	2	
IT- rising	0	2	1	20	0	1	
Reaching	0	2	2	1	16	3	
Turning	0	0	2	1	3	18	

Table 3-10: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Head

Marker Position: Left Foot + Right Foot + Head

Table 3-11: Confusion matrix, Waist + Sternum + Head

Marker Position: Sternum + Waist + Head

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	6	2	4	3	9	
IT-sitting	0	6	12	1	0	5	
IT- rising	0	1	3	20	0	0	
Reaching	0	0	5	1	14	4	
Turning	0	3	3	0	3	15	

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	22	2	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	16	1	0	4	3	
IT-sitting	0	4	10	2	6	2	
IT- rising	0	0	2	22	0	0	
Reaching	0	2	3	0	15	4	
Turning	0	2	2	0	2	18	

Marker Position: Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Sternum

Table 3-12: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + waist + Sternum

Table 3-13: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Head

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0
Faint	0	17	1	0	4	2
IT-sitting	0	2	13	1	1 3	
IT- rising	0	0	1	22	0	1
Reaching	0	2	3	1	17	1
Turning	0	2	2	0	1	19
Turning	0	2	2	0	1	19

Marker Position: Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Head

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	22	2	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	16	1	0	4	3	
IT-sitting	0	4	10	2	2	6	
IT-rising	0	0	2	22	0	0	
Reaching	0	2	4	0	14	4	
Turning	0	2	2	0	2	18	

Marker Position: Left foot + right foot + Sternum + Head

Table 3-14: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Sternum + Head

Table 3-15: Confusion matrix, Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Sternum + Head

Classified as \rightarrow	NW	Faint	IT-sitting	IT- rising	Reaching	Turning	
NW	24	0	0	0	0	0	
Faint	0	17	1	0	4	2	
IT-sitting	0	1	15	1	4	3	
IT-rising	0	0	1	21	0	1	
Reaching	0	1	5	0	17	1	
Turning	0	3	2	0 0		19	

Marker Position: Left foot + Right foot + Waist + Sternum + Head

Table 3-16: Sensitivity and specificity of marker array in detecting the cause of falls.

	Walking (24)		Faint (24)		IT-sitting (24)		IT- rising (24)		Reaching(24)		Turning (24)	
Marker Combination	Sens	Spec	Sens	Spec	Sens	Spec	Sens	Spec	Sens	Spec	Sens	Spec
Head	100	98	25	92	42	90	46	93	62	92	67	82
Sternum	96	96	17	87	17	89	50	90	33	90	58	82
Waist	92	99	33	86	33	94	83	93	50	93	67	86
Left Foot + Right Foot	83	97	62	92	29	90	83	99	50	86	71	91
Waist + Sternum	96	98	33	87	29	92	75	95	50	93	67	84
Waist + Head	100	100	33	93	37	93	83	94	67	95	75	83
Sternum + Head	100	98	37	93	50	92	75	94	54	93	67	85
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist	96	100	67	92	37	92	87	98	54	90	79	91
Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum	96	98	67	92	46	92	83	99	56	90	75	91
Left Foot + Right Foot + Head	100	98	67	95	54	94	83	97	67	91	75	93
Waist + Sternum + Head	100	100	25	92	50	89	83	95	58	95	62	85
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist + Sternum	92	100	67	92	42	93	92	98	62	90	75	92
Left Foot + Right Foot + Waist+ Head	100	100	71	95	54	94	92	98	71	93	79	92
Left Foot + Right Foot + Sternum + Head	92	100	67	92	42	92	92	98	58	93	75	89
Right Foot + Left Foot + Waist + Sternum + Head	100	100	71	96	62	92	92	99	71	93	79	94
Legend: Sens (Sensitivity (%)) = True Positive +	ositive False Neg		100	Spec (Specific	ity (%))	= True	True Negative	Negativ e + False	e e Positiv	$\frac{1}{e} \times 100$	

••

4: CHAPTER 4 THESIS SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

The primary goal of my master thesis was to develop and evaluate a system for automatic detection of the cause of a fall using wearable sensors. I further analysed how the location and the number of sensors affected the system's performance in distinguishing between various causes of falls.

In my first study (Chapter 2), I conducted laboratory experiments with young adults who simulated various types of falls, observed through video capture in the daily life of older adults. These included falls due to slips, trips and other causes (fainting or syncope, incorrect transfer or shifting of body weight during the trials, kinematic data were recorded with a video based motion capture system. Means and variances of the acceleration data from each of five locations (head, sternum, right ASIS, left ASIS and lateral malleoli) for the 1500 milliseconds preceding pelvis impact were calculated. Based on the assumption that the acceleration data from different types of falls are linearly separable, I used Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) to classify the causes of falls into three groups of slips, trips and other. My results confirmed the linear separability of the acceleration data from these three fall types. In particular, I observed at least

96% sensitivity in correctly classifying these causes of falls using only three sensors, optimally located at the left foot, right foot, and sternum. I also observed that classification sensitivity was no better with four and five markers than with three. Hence, I conclude that my linear discriminant analysis technique can accurately identify the aforementioned three causes of falls with as few as three markers, located at the ankles and sternum.

In my second study (Chapter 3), I examined whether similar acceleration data and LDA technique could correctly classify falls (acquired in the same experiment as described above) due to fainting or syncope, incorrect transfer while sitting down and standing up from a chair, reaching and turnings. My results indicated that, unlike slips, trips and all "other causes" combined, the acceleration data from each of these "other causes" were less linearly separable from each other. For example linear discriminant analysis using the most effective marker combination left foot + right foot + waist + sternum + head was only 62% sensitive in distinguishing falls due to incorrect transfer while sitting.

4.1 **Future directions**

This project contributes to improving our understanding of the cause and circumstances of falls in the high risk older population through the development of innovative wearable technologies. In particular, I showed that Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) is an effective technique for identifying falls due to

slips, trips and other causes (Chapter 2). However, as described in Chapter 3, the LDA technique was considerably less accurate in distinguishing falls due to faint/collapse, incorrect transfer while sitting down and rising from a chair, and loss of balance when reaching and turning. To achieve high separability between these fall causes, alternative data classification schemes should be tested, such 'as support vector machine (SVM) approaches or Gaussian and Hidden Markov Models (HMM), should be tested. Furthermore, alternative sensing technologies, such as angular rate gyros or position – measuring magnetometers, should be considered as components to linear acceleration sensors.

By providing objective information on the cause of falls, and alleviating the need for health providers to rely on (often inaccurate) self – recall or witness reports of fall circumstances, my wearable sensor system has considerable value to clinicians and researchers in the area of fall prevention. In the future, this technology should be expanded to provide more comprehensive information on fall mechanics and be integrated with comprehensive physiological measures (e.g. electromyograms), blood pressure and electrocardiogram) for more detailed analysis of fall causation.

REFERENCE LIST

- Adler-Traines, M. (1994). "Falls in the senior population." Physical Therapy Forum 9: 14 - 17.
- Alexander, B. H., F. P. Rivara, et al. (1992). "The cost and frequency of hospitalization for fall-related injuries in older adults." American Journal of Public Health 82(7): 1020–1023.
- American Geriatrics Society, British Geriatrics Society, et al. (2001). Guideline for the Prevention of Falls in Older Persons. American Geriatrics Society.
- Baudat, G. and F. Anouar (2000). "Generalized Discriminant Analysis Using a Kernel Approach." Neural Computation 12(10): 2385-2404.
- Berg, W. P., H. M. Alessio, et al. (1997). "Circumstances and consequences of falls in independent community-dwelling older adults." Age Ageing 26: 261-268.
- Bishop, C. M. (2006). Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning. New York, Springer Science+Business Media, LLC.
- Bjornstig, U., J. Bjornstig, et al. (1997). "Slipping on ice and snow--elderly women and young men are typical victims." Accid Anal Prev 29(2): 211 - 215.
- Blake, A. J., K. Morgan, et al. (1988). "Falls by elderly people at home: prevalence and associataed factors." Age Ageing 17(6): 365-372.
- Blake, A. J., K. Morgan, et al. (1988). "Falls by elderly people at home: prevalence and associated factors." Age Ageing 17(6): 365 - 372.
- Bourke, A., J. O'Brien, et al. (2006). "Evaluation of a threshold-based tri-axial accelerometer fall detection algorithm." Gait & Posture 26(2): 194-199.
- Bourke, A. K. and G. M. Lyons (2008). "A threshold-based fall-detection algorithm using a bi-axial gyroscope sensor." Medical Engineering & Physics 30(1): 84-90.
- Brady, R. A., M. J. Pavol, et al. (2000). "Foot displacement but not velocity predicts the outcome of a slip induced in young subjects while walking." Journal of Biomechanics 33(7): 803-808.
- Brocklehurst, J. C., A. N. Exton-Smith, et al. (1978). "Fracture of the femur in old age: A two-center study of associated clinical factors and the cause of the fall." Age Ageing 7(1): 7-15.

- Bueno-Cavanillas, A., F. Padilla-Ruiz, et al. (2000). "Risk factors in falls among the elderly according to extrinsic and intrinsic precipitating causes." European Journal of Epidemiology 16(9): 849-859.
- Campbell, A. J., M. J. Borrie, et al. (1990). "Circumstances and consequences of falls experienced by a community population 70 years and over during a prospective study." Age Ageing 19(2): 136 141.
- Campbell, A. J., J. Reinken, et al. (1981). "Falls in old age: a study of frequency and related clinical factors." Age Ageing 10(4): 264-270.
- Campbell, A. J., M. C. Robertson, et al. (1997). "Randomised controlled trial of a general practice programme of home based exercise to prevent falls in elderly women." British medical journal 7115(315).
- Carter, S. E., E. M. Campbell, et al. (2000). "Accidents in older people living at home: A community-based study assessing prevalence, type, location and injuries." Austr NZ J Public Health 24(6): 633 636.
- Cham, R. and M. S. Redfern (2001). "Lower extremity corrective reactions to slip events." Journal of Biomechanics 34(11): 1439-1445.
- Chang, J. T., S. C. Morton, et al. (2004). "Interventions for the prevention of falls in older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials." British Medical Journal 7441(328).
- Chen, H. C., A. B. Schultz, et al. (1996). "Stepping over obstacles: Dividing attention impairs performance of old more than young adults." J Gerontol A, Biol Sci Med Sci 51(3): M116 122.
- Chen, J., K. Kwong, et al. (2005). Wearable Sensors for Reliable Fall Detection. Engineering in Medicine and Biology 27th Annual Conference, Shanghai, China.
- Cherpitel, C. J. (1994). "Alcohol consumption and injury in the general population: from a national sample." Drug and Alcohol Dependence 34(3): 217 224.
- Coronado, V. G., K. E. Thomas, et al. (2005). "The CDC Traumatic Brain Injury Surveillance System: Characteristics of Persons Aged 65 Years and Older Hospitalized With a TBI." Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation 20(3): 215 - 228.
- Courtney, T. K., G. S. Sorock, et al. (2001). "Occupational Slip, Trip, and Fall-Related Injuries–Can the Contribution of Slipperiness be Isolated?" Ergonomics 44(13): 1118 - 1137.
- Cumming, R. G., J. L. Kelsey, et al. (1990). "Methodologic issues in the study of frequent and recurrent health problems." Annals of Epidemiology 1(1): 49-56.

- Cumming, R. G. and R. J. Klineberg (1994). "Fall frequency and characteristics and the risk of hip fractures." American Geriatrics Society 42(7): 774-778.
- Cumming, R. G., M. C. Nevitt, et al. (1988). "Forgetting falls, the limited accuracy of recall of falls in elderly." American Geriatrics Society 36(7): 613–616.
- Cummings, S. R. and M. C. Nevitt (1989). "A HYPOTHESIS: The Causes of Hip Fractures." J Gerontol 44(4): M107-111.
- Cummings, S. R., S. M. Rubin, et al. (1990). "The future of hip fractures in the United States. Numbers, costs, and potential effects of postmenopausal estrogen." Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research: 163–166.
- Degen, T., H. Jaeckel, et al. (2003). SPEEDY: a fall detector in a wrist watch. Proceedings of the 7th IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers, Washington, DC, USA, IEEE Computer Society.
- Downton, J. H. and K. Andrews (1991). "Prevalence, characteristics and factors associated with falls among the elderly living at home." Aging (Milano) 3(3): 219-228.
- Eng, J. J., D. A. Winter, et al. (1994). "Strategies for recovery from a trip in early and late swing during human walking. ." Experimental Brain Research. 102(2): 339-349.
- Feldman, F. (2009). Neuromuscular and behavioural influences on the balance and falls. School of kinesiology. Burnaby, Simon Fraser University. Doctor of philosophy.
- Feldman, F. and S. Robinovitch (2007). "Reducing hip fracture risk during sideways falls: Evidence in young adults of the protective effects of impact to the hands and stepping." Journal of Biomechanics 40(12): 2612-2618.
- Feldman, F., D. Wan, et al. (2009). Video recording of real-life falls to investigate the causes and circumstances of falls in long term care facilities. Longevity, health and wealth, XIXth IAGG world congress, Paris
- Fife, D., J. I. Barancik, et al. (1984). "Northeastern Ohio Trauma Study: II. Injury rates by age, sex, and cause." American Journal of Public Health 74(5): 473 - 478.
- Folman, Y., R. Gepstein, et al. (1994). "Functional recovery after operative treatment of femoral neck fractures in an institutionalized elderly population." Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 75(4): 454-456.
- Fried, L. P. (2000). "Epidemiology of Aging." Epidemiologic Reviews 22(1): 95 106.

- Fujimoto, K., H. Kondo, et al. (2000). "A comparison between three methods to investigate falls among the elderly living in the community." Japanese journal of public health 47(5): 430-439.
- Gillespie, L., W. Gillespie, et al. (2005). "Interventions for Preventing Falls in Elderly People." Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: CD00635.
- Gryfe, C. I., A. Amies, et al. (1977). "A longitudinal study of falls in an elderly population: I. Incidence and morbidity." Age Aging 6: 211 220.
- Hayes, W., E. Myers, et al. (1993). "Impact near the hip dominates fracture risk in elderly nursing home residents who fall." Calcified Tissue International 52(3): 192-198.
- Herman, M., E. Gallagher, et al. (2006). The evolution of senior's falls prevention in British Colombia. Victoria: B.C. M. o. Health. Victoria.
- Howland, J., M. E. Lachman, et al. (1998). "Covariates of fear of falling and associated activity curtailment." Gerontologist 38(5): 549-555.
- Howland, J., E. W. Peterson, et al. (1993). "Fear of Falling among the Community-Dwelling Elderly." Aging Health 5(2): 229 - 243.
- Hsiao, E. T. and S. N. Robinovitch (1998). "Common protective movements govern unexpected falls from standing height." Journal of Biomechanics 31(1): 1-9.
- Hsiao, E. T. and S. N. Robinovitch (1998). "Common protective movements govern unexpected falls from standing height." Journal of Biomechanics 31(1): 1-9.
- Hwang, J. Y., J. M. Kang, et al. (2004). Development of novel algorithm and realtime monitoring ambulatory system using Bluetooth module for fall detection in the elderly. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE. Dept. of Biomedical Eng., Seoul Nat. Univ., South Korea. 1: 2204-2207.
- Jacobsen, J., J. Goldberg, et al. (1990). "Hip fracture incidence among the old and very old: a population-based study of 745,435 cases." Am J Public Health 80(7): 871-873.
- Kangas, M., A. Konttila, et al. (2007). Determination of simple thresholds for accelerometry-based parameters for fall detection. 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society: 1367 - 1370.
- Kangas, M., I. Vikman, et al. (2009). "Sensitivity and specificity of fall detection in people aged 40 years and over." Gait Posture 29(4): 571-574.

- Koski, K., H. Luukinen, et al. (1997). "Risk factors for major injurious falls among the home-dwelling elderly by functional abilities. A prospective population based study." Gerontology 44: 232 - 238.
- Larsen, E. R., L. Mosekilde, et al. (2004). "Correlates of falling during 24 h among elderly Danish community residents." Preventive Medicine 39: 389 - 398.
- Lindemann, U., A. Hock, et al. (2005). "Evaluation of a fall detector based on accelerometers: A pilot study." Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing 43(5): 548-551.
- Lipscomb, H. J., J. M. Dement, et al. (2003). "Work-related injuries in residential and drywall carpentry." Appl Occup Environ Hyg 18(6): 479 - 488.
- Lloyd, D. G. and M. G. Stevenson (1992). "An investigation of floor surface profile characteristics that will reduce the incidence of slips and falls." Mechanical Engineering Transactions - Institute of Engineers, Australia ME17(2): 99– 105.
- Lord, S. R., J. A. Ward, et al. (1993). "An epidemiological study of falls in older community-dwelling women: the Randwick falls and fractures study." Aust J Public Health 17(3): 240-245.
- McClure, R., C. Turner, et al. (2005). "Population-Based Interventions for the Prevention of Fall-Related Injuries in Older People." Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: CD03487.
- Metter, E. J., P. K. Yim-Chipless, et al. (2003). "Balance Training: Preventing Falls in Older Adults." The American Journal of Medicine and Sports 5(1): 94 - 99.
- Morfitt, J. M. (1983). "Falls in old people at home: intrinsic versus environmental factors in causation." Public Health 97(2): 115-120.
- Muller, K. R., S. Mika, et al. (2001). "An introduction to kernel-based learning algorithms." Neural Networks, IEEE Transactions on 12(2): 181-201.
- Myers, A. H., Y. Young, et al. (1996). "Prevention of falls in the elderly." Bone 18(1): 87S 101S.
- Nevitt, M. C. and S. R. Cummings (1993). "Type of fall and risk of hip and wrist fractures: the study of osteoporotic fractures, The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 41(11): 1226–1234.
- Niino, N., S. Tsuzuku, et al. (2000). "Frequencies and circumstances of falls in the National Institute for Longevity Sciences, Longitudinal Study of Aging (NILS-LSA)." J Epidemiol 10(1 Suppl): S90 - S94.

- Nordell, E., G. B. Jarnlo, et al. (2000). "Accidental falls and related fractures in 65-74 year olds: a retrospective study of 332 patients." Acta Orthopaedica 71(2): 175-179.
- Northridge, M. E., M. C. Nevitt, et al. (1995). "Home hazards and falls in the elderly: the role of health and functional status." Am J Public Health 85(4): 509 515.
- Noury, N., P. Barralon, et al. (2003). A smart sensor based on rules and its evaluation in daily routines. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Proceedings of the 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE.
- Noury, N., A. Galay, et al. (2008). Preliminary investigation into the use of Autonomous Fall Detectors. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society.
 30th Annual International Conference of the IEEE. Grenoble University, Iab. TIMC-IMAG, France: 2828-2831.
- Nurmi, I., M. Sihvonen, et al. (1996). "Falls among institutionalized elderly--a prospective study in four institutions in Finland." Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences 10(4): 212 220.
- Nyan, M. N., F. E. Tay, et al. (2006). "Distinguishing fall activities from normal activities by angular rate characteristics and high-speed camera characterization." Medical Engineering & Physics 28(8): 842-849.
- Nyan, M. N., F. E. H. Tay, et al. (2008). "A wearable system for pre-impact fall detection." Journal of Biomechanics 41(16): 3475-3481.
- Nyberg, L., Y. Gustafson, et al. (1996). "Falls leading to femoral neck fractures in lucid older people." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 44(2): 156–160.
- Papadimitropoulos, E. A., P. C. Coyte, et al. (1997). "Current and projected rates of hip fracture in Canada." CMAJ 157(10): 1357-1363.
- Pavol, M. J., T. M. Owings, et al. (2000). "Mechanisms Leading to a Fall From an Induced Trip in Healthy Older Adults." J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 56(7): M428-437.
- Peel, N. (2000). "Validating recall of falls by older people Accident Analysis and Prevention." Accident Analysis and Prevention 32(3): 371-372.
- Petrella, R. J., M. Payne, et al. (2000). "Physical function and fear of falling after hip fracture rehabilitation in the elderly." Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation 79(2): 154-160.
- Prudham, D. and J. G. Evans (1981). "Factors associated with falls in the elderly: a community study." Age Ageing 10(3): 141-146.
- Prudham, D. and J. G. Evans (1981). "Factors associated with falls in the elderly: A community study." Age Ageing 10: 141 - 146.

- Quagliarella, L., N. Sasanelli, et al. (2008). "An interactive fall and loss of consciousness detector system." Gait & Posture 28(4): 699-702.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). "The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population." Applied Psychological Measurement 1(3): 385 401.
- Rawsky, E. (1998). "Review of the literature on falls among the elderly." Image J Nurs Sch 30(1): 47 - 52.
- Redfern, M. S., R. Cham, et al. (2001). "Biomechanics of slips." Ergonomics 44(13): 1138-1166.
- Robinovitch, S. N., F. Feldman, et al. (2009). Video-based recording of the cause of falls among older adults in long term care. 19th International Conference of the International Society for Posture and Gait Research, Bologna, Italy.
- Ross, C. E. and J. Mirowsky (1984). "Components of depressed mood in married men and women. The Center for Epidemiologic Studies' Depression Scale." American Journal of Epidemiology 119(6): 997 - 1004.
- Rubenstein, L. Z. (2006). "Falls in older people: epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention." Age and Ageing 35-S2: ii37.
- Rubenstein, L. Z. and K. R. Josephson (2002). "The epidemiology of falls and syncope." Clinics in Geriatric Medicine 18(2): 141-158.
- Rubenstein, L. Z., K. R. Josephson, et al. (1994). "Falls in the Nursing Home." Annals of Internal Medicine 121(6): 442-451.
- Schwartz A.V, Kelsey J.L, et al. (1998). "Characteristics of falls and risk of hip fracture in elderly men." Osteoporosis International 3(8): 240-246.
- Scott, J. C. (1990). "Osteoporosis and hip fractures." Rheum Dis Clin North Am 16(3): 717-740.
- Shapiro, M. J., R. A. Partridege, et al. (2001). "Functional decline in independent elders after minor traumatic injury." Academic Emergency Medicine 8(1): 78 - 81.
- Smeesters, C., W. C. Hayes, et al. (2001). "Disturbance type and gait speed affect fall direction and impact location." Journal of Biomechanics 34(3): 309-317.
- Smeesters, C., W. C. Hayes, et al. (2001). "The threshold trip duration for which recovery is no longer possible is associated with strength and reaction time." Journal of Biomechanics 35(5): 589-595.

- Speechley, M. and M. Tinetti (1991). "Falls and injuries in frail and vigorous community elderly persons." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 39: 46 52.
- Srinivasan, S., H. Jun, et al. (2007). Towards automatic detection of falls using wireless sensors. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2007. EMBS 2007. 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE.
- Stalenhoef, P. A., J. P. Diederiks, et al. (1999). "Impact of gait problems and fall , on functioning in independent living persons of 55 years and over: A community survey." Patient Educ Couns 36: 23 - 31.
- Stalenhoef, P. A., J. P. Diederiks, et al. (2002). "A risk model for the prediction of recurrent falls in community-dwelling elderly: a prospective cohort study." Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 55(11): 1088-1094.
- Stalenhoef, P. A., J. P. Diederiks, et al. (2000). "The construction of a patient record-based risk model for recurrent falls among elderly people living in the community." Family Practice 17(6): 490 496.
- Sterling, D., J. A. O'Conner, et al. (2001). "Geriatric Falls: Injury Severity is high and disproportionate to mechanism." Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection and Critical Care 50(1): 116 - 119.
- Talbot, L., R. Musiol, et al. (2005). "Falls in young, middle-aged and older community dwelling adults: perceived cause, environmental factors and injury." BMC Public Health 5(1): 86.
- Talbot, L. A., E. J. Metter, et al. (2000). "Leisure-time physical activities and their relationship to cardiorespiratory fitness in healthy men and women 18-95 years old." Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise 32: 417.
- Tamura, T., T. Yoshimura, et al. (2000). An ambulatory fall monitor for the elderly. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 2000. Proceedings of the 22nd Annual International Conference of the IEEE.
- Thal, L. J., M. Grundman, et al. (1986). "Alzheimer's Disease: a correlational analysis of the Blessed Information-Memory-Concentration Test and the Mini-Mental State Exam." Neurology 36(2): 262 264.
- The-Hygeia-Group (1998). The economic burden of unintentional injury in Canada, SMARTRISK foundation.
- Tideiksaar, R. (1996). "Reducing the risk of falls and injury in older persons: Contribution of a falls and immobility clinic." Facts and Research in Gerontonogy: 162 - 183.
- Tinetti, M. E. (1987). "Factors associated with serious injury during falls by ambulatory nursing home residents." Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 35(7): 644-648.

- Tinetti, M. E., D. I. Baker, et al. (1997). "Systematic home-based physical and functional therapy for older persons after hip fracture." Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 78(11): 1237-1247.
- Tinetti, M. E., M. Speechley, et al. (1988). "Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community." New England Journal of Medicine 319: 1701 1707.
- Troy, K. L. and M. D. Grabiner (2006). "Recovery responses to surrogate slippingtasks differ from responses to actual slips." Gait & Posture 24(4): 441-447.
- Van den Bogert, A. J., M. J. Pavol, et al. (2002). "Response time is more important than walking speed for the ability of older adults to avoid a fall after a trip." Journal of Biomechanics 32(2): 199-205.
- Verbrugge, L. M. and A. M. Jette (1994). "The disablement process." Soc Sci Med 38(1): 1 - 14.
- Versteegen, G. J., J. Kingma, et al. (1998). "Neck sprain not arising from car accidents: a retrospective study covering 25 years." European Spine Journal 7(3): 201 - 205.
- Wagner, L., E. Capezuti, et al. (2005). "Impact of a falls menu-driven incidentreporting system on documentation and quality improvement in nursing homes." Gerontologist 45(6): 835-842.
- Wei, T. S., C. H. Hu, et al. (2001). "Fall Characterictics, Functional Mobility and Bone Mineral Density as Risk Factors of Hip Fracture in the Community-Dwelling Ambulatory Elderly." Osteoporosis International 12(12): 1050-1055.
- Wild, D., U. S. L. Nyack, et al. (1981). "Prognosis of falls in old people at home." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 35: 200 - 204.
- Wolf, S. L., H. X. Barnhart, et al. (1996). "Reducing frailty and falls in older persons: an investigation of Tai Chi and computerized balance training. Atlanta FICSIT Group. Frailty and Injuries: Cooperative Studies of Intervention Techniques." J Am Geriatr Soc. 44(5): 489-497.
- Wu, G. (2000). "Distinguishing fall activities from normal activities by velocity characteristics." Journal of Biomechanics 33(11): 1497-1500.
- Wu, G. and S. Xeu (2008). "Portable preimpact fall detector with inertial sensors." IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering 16(2): 178 - 183.
- Yasumura, S., H. Haga, et al. (1994). "Rate of falls and the correlates among elderly people living in an urban community in Japan." Age Ageing 23(4): 323 - 327.

Ytterstad, B. (1999). "The Harstad injury prevention study: the characteristics and distribution of fractures amongst elders, an eight year study." International Journal of Circumpolar Health 58(2): 84 - 95.

÷